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(1) 

EXAMINING MISCONDUCT AND MISMANAGE-
MENT AT THE NATIONAL PARK SERVICE 

Thursday, September 22, 2016 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
COMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT AND GOVERNMENT REFORM, 

Washington, D.C. 
The committee met, pursuant to call, at 1:02 p.m., in Room 2154, 

Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Jason Chaffetz [chairman of 
the committee] presiding. 

Present: Representatives Chaffetz, Mica, Walberg, Amash, Gosar, 
Gowdy, Lummis, Meadows, DeSantis, Blum, Hice, Carter, 
Grothman, Palmer, Cummings, Norton, Connolly, Plaskett, Welch, 
and Lujan Grisham. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. The Committee on Oversight and Govern-
ment Reform will come to order. And without objection, the chair 
is authorized to declare a recess at any time. 

We have an important hearing today. It is entitled ‘‘Examining 
Misconduct and Mismanagement at the National Park Service.’’ 

In June, National Park Service Director Jarvis testify before this 
committee about the problems and sexual harassment throughout 
the Park Service. He suggested that things could potentially get 
worse before they got better, and boy, was he right. Things have 
gotten a lot worse. We have certainly been able to illuminate and 
find more problems that unfortunately have been festering and 
been part of the system for far, far too long. 

Since Director Jarvis’ testimony, numerous park employees from 
multiple parks have contacted the committee to describe patterns 
of misconduct at the Park Service, and today, we are here to deter-
mine what the Park Service is doing to stop the harassment and 
find out why it keeps happening. There seems to be some patterns 
here that are just not anything that we should come close to toler-
ating. 

These incidents are happening at our country’s most beloved 
parks. From Yellowstone to Yosemite and the Grand Canyon, these 
are some of the most visited and famous parks literally in the 
world. Unfortunately, they also face serious management chal-
lenges and allegations of disturbing misbehavior. 

It is difficult often to have these discussions in an open setting, 
and I warn the parents of young people who may be watching this 
some of this is going to be probably a little touchy and a little inap-
propriate, but it is what we do in this committee. We illuminate 
things. We shine a light on them. 

We are different in the United States of America, as I have said 
time and time again, in that we are self-critical. And we better 
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come to a reality grip of what is happening because far too often 
the people that are accused of this hideous behavior are simply pro-
moted, maybe they get a bonus, and they just move on. There 
doesn’t seem to be a consequence. 

In Yosemite at least 18 employees, 18, have come forward with 
allegations of harassment, bullying, and a hostile work environ-
ment. These employees lay the blame at the top on Dan 
Neubacher, the superintendent of Yosemite. The Park Service law 
enforcement official who investigated the allegation in Yosemite 
concluded this: ‘‘The number of employees interviewed that de-
scribe horrific working conditions lead us to believe that the envi-
ronment is indeed toxic, hostile, repressive, and harassing.’’ I don’t 
know that it could get any worse than that, but that is his conclu-
sion. These are the words of the Park Service’s own internal inves-
tigators, not the committee staff, not the Office of the Inspector 
General. Currently, Superintendent Neubacher is still running Yo-
semite. He is still there. 

If this was the only park suffering from these problems, it would 
be enough of a serious concern, yet recent allegations from Amer-
ica’s first national park, Yellowstone, are truly beyond the pale. 
They include sexual exploitation, intimidation, retaliation, and sex-
ual harassment so depraved that it is disturbing even to discuss. 
With accusations so alarming, you would expect the Washington of-
fice to step in immediately and ensure that employees in Yellow-
stone are safe. 

While I appreciate the decision to call on the inspector general 
for assistance, the Park Service must be more aggressive in pro-
tecting public service. We see this time and time again. It is not 
good enough to just say we are going to ask the inspector general 
to do it. The Park Service and the other agencies need to do their 
job and provide immediate relief, not punt it to somebody else to 
start doing it. And it is not good enough to just say we are going 
to do a survey. I am tired of hearing about surveys. There is a 
problem. 

In our June hearing we heard about the serious problems at 
Grand Canyon and Canaveral National Parks. Since then, it was 
reported that the supervisors who allowed misconduct to occur in 
these parks were not just left unpunished, some were even pro-
moted. What in the world does it take to get fired from the Park 
Service? In most of these cases that I have seen it is not just one 
he said/she said. Here is a case that we are going to talk about 
today where we had 18 people, 18, who are talking about this. 

Leaders who fail in their obligations to protect the public or em-
ployees, they need to be fired. If they are not going to take action 
and they are not going to protect the employees of the United 
States of America, then they should leave. 

We had hoped our hearing with Director Jarvis would have 
prompted to change. Instead, it seems to have been treated merely 
as a speed bump. Based on what we have seen, the response to the 
crisis has been to require additional training for managers and to 
realign the EEO, the Equal Employment Opportunity office, so it 
reports to Director Jarvis. 

Here is the problem with Director Jarvis, though. Of course this 
is the same director who was removed from overseeing the Park 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00006 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRILK
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R
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Service’s ethics program because his own integrity failures, includ-
ing lying to the Secretary of Interior. 

I am glad to see that Director Jarvis has announced his retire-
ment. I think that should have happened quite some time ago, but 
it is kind of stunning that the director of the Park Service is pro-
hibited from administering an ethics program because of his own 
ethical problems. And then we wonder why we have a hard time 
implementing ethical reforms or just implementing things at the 
Park Service. How are employees supposed to trust the EEO proc-
ess when the person in charge hasn’t followed the rules them-
selves? Something needs to change and it needs to change fast. 

And I would like to acknowledge we are joined today by two Park 
Service employees testifying in a whistleblower capacity. These 
brave employees have come forward despite the fear of possible re-
taliation. Now, I have got to tell you, we will have nothing of that. 
Mr. Cummings and I, Democrats, Republicans, we are united in 
the idea that we will go to the ends of the earth to protect and sup-
port people who step up as whistleblowers. 

It takes a great deal of guts to come testify before this committee 
in a voluntary situation and explain what you have seen and heard 
firsthand. For that, we are exceptionally grateful. It is a difficult 
thing to do. I can’t imagine you ever imagined in your life that you 
would be in this situation testifying before Congress, but as I said 
before, we take this responsibility very seriously. We can’t fix it if 
we don’t know precisely what it is. We have a pretty good indica-
tion of what it is, but to hear from the frontlines what is really 
happening is a pivotal concern to us. 

We want to thank you for your courage, your willingness to step 
forward, and we expect candid answers. And we will do all we can 
to protect you from any sort of reprisals. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. So I would now like to recognize the rank-
ing member, Mr. Cummings. 

Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and I do 
indeed thank you for calling this hearing. 

No employee in Federal civil service should ever feel afraid to 
come to work. This is a simple statement, but it is very, very im-
portant. And no employee should ever feel retaliation if she steps 
forward or he steps forward to report misconduct that makes him 
or her feel afraid or uncomfortable. 

I thank Kelly Martin, the chief of fire and aviation management 
at Yosemite national Park; and Brian Healy, the fisheries program 
manager at the Grand Canyon, for being here today. I thank them 
for their courage and their willingness to come forward and share 
with this committee their experiences over decades of work for the 
Federal Government. I also thank you for your service. It should 
not have been necessary for them to be here today to testify. 

A task force convened some 16 years ago commissioned a study 
to examine women in law enforcement occupations in the Park 
Service. Here is what that study found: Some individuals in posi-
tions of authority appeared to condone either by their action or in-
action sexual harassment and discrimination. The system used for 
handling complaints is not trusted by the employees, nor timely in 
its ability to bring resolution to complaints. That is a major, major 
problem. 
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It went on to say that employees feel retaliation of complaints 
are voiced. That was 16 years ago. The task force concluded, ‘‘It is 
critical for the National Park Service to show a sense of urgency 
in ensuring that all employees are working in an environment free 
from unlawful harassment.’’ 

The task force developed a five-year action plan with nearly 30 
recommendations to correct deficiencies with handling complaints, 
recruitment, and retention efforts and sexual harassment preven-
tion. However, the Park Service, by their own admission, few of 
these recommendations were ever implemented. Obviously, they 
did not consider it to be that important. They did not feel a sense 
of urgency. And so that task force report was filed away, put on 
a shelf, gathering dust, ignored. 

Sixteen years later, the inspector general has issued a report 
finding ‘‘evidence of a long-term pattern of sexual harassment and 
hostile workforce environment in the Grand Canyon River Dis-
trict.’’ Sixteen years later, the inspector general has issued a report 
finding ‘‘a pattern of harassment involving a law enforcement su-
pervisor at the Canaveral National Seashore.’’ And 16 years later, 
members of the committee, allegations have been made at Yosemite 
and Yellowstone National Park’s about possible harassment, hostile 
work environments, and even sexual exploitation. 

Today’s hearing will enable us to hear from the Park Service 
with regard to specific measures it has implemented to ensure that 
all employees work in facilities where sexual harassment is not tol-
erated, and the agency’s culture welcomes and supports a work-
force that reflects the diversity of our nation. 

I want to hear about the specific reforms that the Park Service 
has implemented to ensure that all complaints are handled in a 
fair, timely, and thorough and consistent manner. I want to hear 
about the reforms that have been implemented to ensure that the 
disciplinary process yields consistent and fair discipline across all 
Park Service facilities and cannot be abused to retaliate against 
employees who file complaints. 

And I want to hear about the reforms that have been imple-
mented to bring the Park Service’s Equal Employment Opportunity 
program into compliance with the standards of a model program. 

In Ms. Martin’s prepared testimony she wrote, ‘‘With steadfast 
resolve to work together and confront the serious and subtle mis-
conduct issues we currently face, we will set a north star for the 
culture change for the next generation of National Park Service 
employees.’’ 

With the commitment of employees like Ms. Martin and Mr. 
Healy, I am confident that we are on the right course to correct 
longstanding patterns of harassment and retaliation in the Park 
Service. And I thanked them before but I want to thank them 
again because they are not only here about themselves and things 
that they have seen, but they are trying to make sure that the 
Park Service is a place that is welcoming to generations yet un-
born. 

However, to make the changes that clearly need to be made, we 
have to hold the Park Service’s feet to the fire. Sixteen years ago, 
there were those who sat in the same chairs and tried to hold feet 
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to the fire, but apparently, the fire was not hot enough. Well, we 
are going to have to do it again. 

It has been 99 days since our last hearing. Our committee should 
continue to hold hearings on the Park Service every 99 days until 
all employees feel safe coming to work and reporting misconduct 
whenever and wherever it occurs. As I have often said from this 
committee during committee hearings, when I see things that are 
not right, I often say we are better than that, and we are better 
than that. And I want to thank our witnesses for coming forward 
to help us get to where we have to go. 

With that, I yield back. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. I thank the gentleman. 
I will hold the record open for five legislative days for members 

who would like to submit a written statement. 
I will now recognize our panel of witnesses. It starts with Mr. 

Michael Reynolds, deputy director for operations at the National 
Park Service of the United States Department of the Interior. Ms. 
Kelly Martin is the chief of fire and aviation management at Yo-
semite National Park of the National Park Service, the United 
States Department of Interior; and Mr. Brian Healy, fisheries pro-
gram manager at the Grand Canyon National Park, the National 
Park Service, in the United States Department of the Interior. 

We thank you all for being here. Pursuant to committee rules, 
all witnesses are to be sworn before they testify, so if you will 
please rise and raise your right hand. 

[Witnesses sworn.] 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Thank you. You may be seated. Let the 

record reflect that all witnesses answered in the affirmative. 
In order to allow time for discussion, we would appreciate your 

limiting your verbal comments to five minutes, but we are going to 
be pretty lenient on that. If you go over, you will be just fine. Your 
entire written record will be submitted as part of the record. 

Mr. Reynolds, you are now recognized. And you have got to make 
sure you turn it on but bring that microphone uncomfortably close 
to your mouth. There you go. Thank you. 

WITNESS STATEMENTS 

STATEMENT OF MICHAEL REYNOLDS 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Thank you. Chairman Chaffetz, Ranking Member 
Cummings, and committee members, thank you for the opportunity 
to update the committee on steps the National Park Service has 
taken to address sexual harassment cases at the Grand Canyon 
National Park and Canaveral National Seashore, as well as the 
broader issue of harassment in the workplace. 

The cases at the Grand Canyon and Canaveral were more than 
a wake-up call for the National Park Service. They presented us 
with clear and undeniable evidence that we, as we begin our sec-
ond century of service, must extend the same commitment to the 
employees of the National Park Service as we make to the protec-
tion of our nation’s most extraordinary places. 

On behalf of the senior leadership of the National Park Service 
and the majority of our 20,000 plus employees who are out-
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standing, honorable public servants, I share your disgust with the 
behavior that the inspector general outlined in these reports. 

In response to those situations, the leadership team at the Na-
tional Park Service has committed to making substantial and long- 
term culture changes at the agency to prevent sexual harassment 
and to ensure that every employee has a safe and respectful work 
environment. This kind of change is neither easy nor fast. We will 
need to develop trust and support among our employees, visitors, 
and Congress to make the changes that are undeniably necessary. 
This hearing today is one step in that journey. 

Prior to becoming deputy director in August, I worked in many 
parks and regional offices throughout my 30 years with the Na-
tional Park Service. As the regional director for the Midwest and 
more recently as the associate for Workforce and Inclusion, my 
focus has been accountability and performance management and 
change. 

As the new deputy director, I am personally committed to pro-
viding a culture of transparency, inclusion, respect, and account-
ability and making this a safe place for employees to work. We 
want to become a model agency. We will become a model agency. 

I will start by outlining the specific actions we have taken at the 
Grand Canyon and Canaveral since we last testified here in June. 
Since the June 14 hearing at the Grand Canyon, we have ap-
pointed a new superintendent, Christine Lehnertz, closed the River 
District within the canyon for now in terms of the rangers running 
the program, taken actions to hold employees accountable for mis-
conduct, and acted on an 18—18 action-item recommendations in 
response to the OIG report. 

At Canaveral, we have removed the chief ranger accused of sex-
ual harassment from his duties at the park, moved the super-
intendent into a detail assignment with the regional office, and ini-
tiated the process of moving forward with actions to hold employees 
accountable for misconduct. Employees and supervisors at both 
parks have received mandatory sexual harassment prevention re-
porting and response training sessions. 

Nationally, we are working with the Department of the Interior 
to take steps to eradicate sexual harassment and to change the 
NPS culture. Some of these include mandated online training for 
all managers and employees and distributing new NPS-specific 
guides service-wide; additional focused training for EEO, human 
resources, and employee relations staff to support the workforce, 
the professionals that would support the workforce; new reporting 
options including a hotline and an ombudsman office, which will be 
operational within weeks to serve as an independent and confiden-
tial resource for employees; a service-wide workforce harassment 
survey to be conducted later this year; an EEO office that now re-
ports directly to the director and will receive additional support for 
their critical work; updated policies that provide guidance to em-
ployees on harassment, equal employment opportunities, discrimi-
nation, and diversity; and a mandatory 14-day deadline for com-
pleting anti-harassment inquiries. 

These efforts would be insufficient without a long-term plan to 
fundamentally change the culture of the National Park Service. 
Culture change begins with leadership commitment and account-
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ability and is sustained through ongoing training, education, and 
employee engagement. In our centennial year, NPS leadership has 
refocused on what we want the service to look like in its second 
century and are committed to a transparent process focused on ac-
countability to make the improvements that our employees want 
and deserve. This needs to be done very urgently. 

Thank you again for inviting me to testify before you today. I am 
happy to answer any questions that the committee may have. 

[Prepared statement of Mr. Reynolds follows:] 
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Chairman CHAFFETZ. Thank you. 
Ms. Martin, you are now recognized. 

STATEMENT OF KELLY MARTIN 
Ms. MARTIN. Chairman Chaffetz, Ranking Member Cummings, 

and members of the committee, I was requested before you today 
to discuss my personal experience with employee misconduct with 
the National Park Service. 

My name is Kelly Martin, and I am the chief of fire and aviation 
management at Yosemite National Park. I have been in my current 
position for over 10 years. Prior to Yosemite, I worked for the For-
est Service for 16 years. Between the two agencies, I have 32 years 
of distinguished service to the American people. I am here before 
you today as a citizen and on behalf of many of our public land 
management women leaders. My testimony provided for this hear-
ing focuses on management diligence to address misconduct over 
the course of my career. 

My motivation for this statement is for greatest focus and scru-
tiny on the culture created when leaders of our organization fail to 
take disciplinary action and to hold perpetrators accountable for 
their actions. 

It is not without note the vast majority of individuals who have 
devoted their life work on working for the National Park Service 
is an honorable and noble profession, myself included. I am here 
before you today to tell you my story but more importantly to pro-
vide testimony regarding the dark clouds of misconduct that re-
mains elusive from public view. 

When I began working for the National Park Service as a college 
student in 1984, I was sure I found my dream job living and work-
ing in the outdoors with those who share the value of the impor-
tance of public lands in improving resources for the American pub-
lic. 

Imagine for one minute being 20-something again. We have an 
idealistic view of the world that is equitable and just. My idealistic 
view was soon shattered when I became victim of sexual harass-
ment not once but three times. One of my perpetrators was repeat-
edly caught engaging in voyeuristic behavior, all the while receiv-
ing promotions within the National Park Service until his recent 
retirement as deputy superintendent. 

This is very difficult to sit before you today. I am not boastful 
of the history of my sexual harassment experiences. As a matter 
of fact, this is the first time I have come out publicly to describe 
the painful scars of my past in a hopeful effort to eliminate these 
kinds of experiences from happening to young women entering our 
workforce today. 

I did find my own way to push past these experiences and de-
cided to preserve my opportunity for career advancement. My expe-
riences would go unreported until now. This is a highly personal 
decision a woman must make, and it is almost always an embar-
rassing, arduous situation to endure. What brings me to testify 
today is due to a hostile work environment situation in Yosemite 
National Park where dozens of individuals have come forward with 
personal statements of demoralizing behaviors to include acts of 
bullying, gender bias, and favoritism. 
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While not rising to the notoriety of sexual harassment, equally 
damaging behavior patterns that create a hostile work environ-
ment are more pervasive than one might think and is unlikely con-
fined to one park like Yosemite, as you will hear today. 

The time has come to recognize hostile work environments affect 
our employees on a day-to-day basis in our agency. All members of 
the team that allow a toxic work environment to persist are 
complicit in the negative effects that resulted in a decrease in em-
ployee morale and productivity. The subtle and overt nuances of a 
hostile work environment erodes human dignity and diminishes the 
full potential of our most valued resource, the people who care so 
deeply in the mission of the National Park Service and their desire 
to reach their personal and professional aspirations. We owe this 
to our future generation of women and men leaders who our agency 
desperately needs to guide us through our current human resource 
challenges. 

As I walked through my 33 years of service, I want to leave here 
today with a strong conviction of hope, hope for the future genera-
tion of the Park Service conservation leaders that will not know 
what it is like to experience sexual harassment, gender and racial 
discrimination, sexism, and hostile work environments; hope for 
national direction to encourage engagement of women and men at 
the smallest work unit to recognize and thwart negative behavior 
patterns at its insipid stage; hope we can identify misconduct and 
take swift and appropriate action against perpetrators. 

I also recognize our agency has many great men who will come 
forward to be courageous mentors and champions of women’s con-
tributions and encourage and support an equitable work environ-
ment. 

As a chief of fire and aviation at Yosemite, I aim to bring courage 
and inspiration to many women I am here representing today who 
are hopeful that my full written testimony would be the catalyst 
that is needed for change in our culture that is accepting of every-
one. 

Thank you for the opportunity to share my experiences and con-
cerns as the current situation in the National Park Service is dire 
and needs immediate attention to ensure future generations of em-
ployees have access to a workplace free from harassment and hos-
tile work environments. 

I would be happy to answer any questions you have of me at this 
time. 

[Prepared statement of Ms. Martin follows:] 
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Chairman CHAFFETZ. Thank you. 
Mr. Healy, you are now recognized. 

STATEMENT OF BRIAN HEALY 
Mr. HEALY. Good afternoon, Chairman Chaffetz, Ranking Mem-

ber Cummings, and members of the committee. Thank you for the 
opportunity to speak to you today. I hope the information that I 
share will provide additional insight into the full scale of the sexual 
harassment and hostile work environment issues that Grand Can-
yon and the efforts of the National Park Service to address mis-
conduct at the park. 

The vast majority of Grand Canyon employees who believe in the 
NPS mission are hard-working, selfless, and willing to cooperate to 
meet management goals. Nevertheless, as this committee has seen 
in the Office of Inspector General’s report on the previous—perva-
sive misconduct within the River District, there are exceptions. 

My testimony today may anger some of coworkers and managers. 
Based on my experiences, I feel as if my career, my safety, and the 
safety of other employees at the park maybe at some risk even 
though there are numerous legal protections in place for whistle-
blowers. Thus, I am using caution in how I characterize these expe-
riences to protect the privacy of individual victims and witnesses. 

I know this committee is particularly interested in the NPS re-
sponse to the findings of misconduct by the OIG. I can report on 
the progress of 12 of the action items proposed by the Park Service 
and how they’ve impacted operations and employees at the park. 

First, in August, a boat operator that was implicated in many of 
these sexual harassment incidents has been removed from his posi-
tion. In addition, training sessions were held to address sexual har-
assment reporting and confidentiality. The training also provided 
recommendations on responding to reference checks on former 
River District employees, and the agency is making progress on the 
development of a hotline for reporting harassment. 

However, some actions did not have their desired impact. By 
shutting down Grand Canyon’s River District and contracting river 
logistical support, we learned that we have very limited ability to 
prohibit problem boat operators from returning to work as contrac-
tors on NPS science trips. In addition, innocent employees that 
have worked at the River District may be negatively impacted by 
having their duties changed or, in the case of temporary employees, 
they lost work. We could have avoided this uncomfortable situation 
altogether if employees and supervisors were held accountable for 
their misconduct. 

Accountability is elusive for managers. The deputy super-
intendent remains in a position in my chain of command, and the 
River District supervisor was assigned to a temporary chief ranger 
position at another park. While only a temporary position, this ap-
peared to be a promotion to Grand Canyon employees. The OIG 
found this individual and the deputy superintendent had distrib-
uted confidential information related to victims of sexual harass-
ment to the perpetrators, which is a violation of regulations and 
potentially put the victims’ safety at risk. 

In addition, despite reasonable and cost-effective alternatives, 
the deputy superintendent forced my worker to continue to work 
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with the River District, which had become a hostile work environ-
ment in 2015. 

The culture of bullying and harassment is not limited to the 
River District, nor have all the issues been addressed. Beginning 
in 2013, I reported multiple instances of bullying and threatening 
behavior by members of Grand Canyon’s trail crew and the pro-
gram manager to the superintendent, deputy superintendent, and 
human resources staff. Examples included retaliation by some 
members of the trail crew directed toward an assault victim that 
had reported her assault to law enforcement. The assault victim’s 
confidentiality was breached, and she was labeled with an expletive 
by members of the trail crew, the use of a misogynistic slur in ref-
erence to a female senior manager by the trail crew program man-
ager, which was reported by a witness, and the witness was alleg-
edly threatened with violence by the program manager on two occa-
sions. 

According to those involved, it appeared that NPS managers did 
not follow through with appropriate investigations and in some 
cases made excuses for this behavior. An investigation into these 
incidents involving the trail crew, which occurred in 2013 and 
2014, was finally initiated in April 2016 by the Intermountain Re-
gion, but the findings have yet to be reviewed five months later. 

Years of unchecked misconduct by the River District and some 
members of the trail crew and the termination of two employees 
that had reported sexual harassment have had a severe impact on 
employee morale, productivity, and perceived workplace safety. 
Witnesses and victims remain fearful. I have heard the term ‘‘I was 
afraid to report harassment because I feared retaliation’’ countless 
times in my seven years at Grand Canyon. 

Reporting is also discouraged. I was told that the deputy super-
intendent viewed me as a whiner, and my own supervisor was 
pressured to lower my performance rating due to ‘‘Brian’s problems 
with the River District and trail crew.’’ 

In closing, our new superintendent has pledged to improve the 
work environment for all employees. She indicated that we have 
much work to do. This summer, the regional office received almost 
100 complaints or concerns related to workplace issues at Grand 
Canyon. 

Cultural change is difficult and will take time. The retention and 
promotion of managers that are perceived to be implicated in 
wrongdoing may continue, which will discourage future reporting of 
harassment and challenge employee morale and confidence in NPS 
leadership. I sincerely hope that this testimony will lead to contin-
ued positive change in the agency. Thank you. 

[Prepared statement of Mr. Healy follows:] 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00028 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRILK
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



25 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00029 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 1
4 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

14

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



26 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00030 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 1
5 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

15

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



27 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00031 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 1
6 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

16

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



28 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00032 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 1
7 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

17

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



29 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00033 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 1
8 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

18

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



30 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00034 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 1
9 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

19

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



31 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00035 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 2
0 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

20

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



32 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00036 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 2
1 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

21

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



33 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00037 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 2
2 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

22

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



34 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00038 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 2
3 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

23

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



35 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00039 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 2
4 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

24

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



36 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00040 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 2
5 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

25

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



37 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00041 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 2
6 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

26

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



38 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00042 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 2
7 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

27

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



39 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00043 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRIL In
se

rt
 o

ffs
et

 fo
lio

 2
8 

he
re

 2
61

23
.0

28

K
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



40 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. Thank you. 
I will now recognize the gentlewoman from Wyoming, one of the 

most beautiful States, perhaps second only to Utah, but one of the 
more beautiful ones and the home of one of our most treasured na-
tional parks. With that, I would like to recognize Mrs. Lummis for 
five minutes. 

Mrs. LUMMIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
We are primarily focused here on Grand Canyon and Yosemite 

National Parks, but it seems that more problems are cropping up 
in the system. Mr. Reynolds, are you aware of allegations by Bob 
Hester of misconduct among employees at Yellowstone National 
Park? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mrs. LUMMIS. Okay. Well, in an article published in the Montana 

Pioneer just before Labor Day weekend, Mr. Hester alleges that 
there was sexual harassment and exploitation as well as retaliation 
by supervisors at Yellowstone. The article mentions allegations also 
of financial misconduct. Now, who is currently investigating these 
allegations? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. The IG, inspector general. 
Mrs. LUMMIS. Have they begun interviewing witnesses? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. The last information, as I understand, is they 

have not, but they have an arrival date of September 27 in the 
park. 

Mrs. LUMMIS. When was the outside investigator scheduled to 
begin interviewing? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I had a first phone call around September 3, and 
I believe the following week, the week of the 5th, Superintendent 
Dan Wenk began to put together the right mechanisms to bring in 
an independent investigation team. 

Mrs. LUMMIS. One of the things that concerns me, Mr. Chairman, 
about this is that in instances where the superintendent of a park 
is not implicated in the charges or the allegations of sexual mis-
conduct and then attempts to investigate it or initiate an investiga-
tion quickly, that maybe the IG stops the investigation that is 
going on. 

I think this was the case in Yellowstone where Superintendent 
Wenk was beginning an investigation and bringing in outside in-
vestigators to do an independent inquiry and then was prevented 
from doing so because the IG was brought in, thereby delaying the 
opportunity to obtain statements while people’s memories were 
fresh and potentially providing for the opportunity for certain of 
the alleged perpetrators to retire. 

So trying to balance how can we protect employees? How can we 
protect the people who, like Mr. Healy and Ms. Martin, who are 
bringing this information forward and at the same time type make 
sure that these investigations are conducted in a timely manner? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I agree completely with your concerns. One of our 
new policy shifts that I alluded to in my testimony that we’re doing 
with our EEO program is to establish these third-party investiga-
tion units that would be able to swiftly go in. I’m going to rec-
ommend a 24- to 48-hour turnaround once we have a report. Super-
intendent Wenk had begun that process. 
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I would like to have further conversations with the IG. I think 
they’re doing absolutely their job to come in and do this. I’m not 
sure—they want to have a clean investigation, and so they did ask 
us to stand down a third-party investigator, but I know the super-
intendent has expressed his dismay to me about how he’s worried 
about the time for that. So we agree. 

Mrs. LUMMIS. Okay. Well, in the case of Mr. Wenk, there were 
no allegations against him. There were no allegations to my knowl-
edge that he knew and looked the other way. But what about the 
case where that is not true? What about the case where the super-
intendent of a national park is implicated? How do you deal with 
that situation? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. It’s very important that we have somebody from 
the outside managing that process so that you don’t have any prob-
lems if you will tainting an investigation, right? So our policy is to 
develop—in one example we have a different region, an EEO direc-
tor from a different regional office of the other park to direct the 
investigation and to work with the regional office. In our chain we 
have seven regions that oversee these different parks. So to bring 
in some sort of third party that way is our current plan and our 
current policy. 

Mrs. LUMMIS. Well, and before my time is gone, I want you to 
know that we are going to be watching the National Park Service 
in the way that Ms. Martin is treated and Mr. Healy is treated and 
other whistleblowers are treated as a consequence of their bringing 
these allegations forward and that we are going to be watching the 
National Park Service because this should not be tolerated, it 
should not be unaddressed, and it has been inadequately ad-
dressed. 

And thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. I thank the gentlelady. 
I will now recognize the gentlewoman from the District of Colum-

bia, Ms. Norton. 
Ms. NORTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate this hear-

ing. 
Mr. Reynolds, we are very grateful for how the National Park 

Service runs most of our neighborhood parks. It is not just the Mall 
but our neighborhood parks are owned by the National Park Serv-
ice. We have a good relationship with the Park Service. I want to 
know if these two parks where these allegations, these issues have 
come from in the West, are they ours? Are people quartered to-
gether? Or are these nationwide problems? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Congresswoman, if I can ask just to clarify. Do 
you mean, in other words, are these unique problems to these 
parks—— 

Ms. NORTON. To the Western part of the United States where 
these large parks where there are cabins. I don’t understand 
whether or not the staff are quartered there instead of going home 
the way my own —— 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Understood. 
Ms. NORTON.—Park Service rangers do. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Right, we—so 413 units nationwide, very diverse 

system now. As you know —— 
Ms. NORTON. I am talking about those Western units. 
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Mr. REYNOLDS. In these two parks—and I would be happy to let 
Ms. Martin and Mr. Healy also comment—things can be exacer-
bated when you have communities much like a military base living 
and working together. 

Ms. NORTON. Let me ask you both. Do you live in the park where 
you are located in cabins, men and women, or how do you operate 
since the only parks I know are the urban parks? 

Mr. HEALY. At Grand Canyon there is—many employees are 
housed on the south rim, but then there is—there’s times when 
they’re working out of bunk houses in inner canyon in the 
backcountry. Myself, I work in Flagstaff, which is about an hour- 
and-a-half drive away. So it —— 

Ms. NORTON. Ms. Martin? 
Ms. MARTIN. Thank you, Congresswoman. I do live in Yosemite 

Valley in a cabin, and a lot of our seasonal staff that’s on our fire 
crew will be housed in, say, one house or one bunk quarters. There 
are certainly opportunities there that could potentially lead to a 
hostile type of environment, especially with our young folks. So we 
do have close quarters that men and women do live and work in 
on a regular basis. 

Ms. NORTON. Which should caution the National Park Service to 
take such matters into account. 

Mr. Healy, I was reading your testimony. On page 8 you speak 
of a contractor. This doesn’t go specifically to sexual harassment 
but it goes to issues like—you name alcohol abuse, drug use, so I 
am interested in how the policies relate to contractors. I was chair 
of the Employment Opportunity Commission. I wasn’t aware that 
contractors were treated any differently, but I do note that you say 
in your testimony that you were informed that your concerns about 
the misconduct were not considered when the contract was award-
ed. I suppose I should ask Mr. Reynolds. Why are matters like 
drug abuse of a contractor, alcohol abuse, I take it maybe even sex-
ual harassment are not taken into account when a contract is 
awarded? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. They should be for any on-duty thing, and I’ll be 
happy to investigate what happened in this contracting process. 

Ms. NORTON. I wish you would because it said—Mr. Healy said 
that he was specifically informed that his concerns were not consid-
ered, not even considered. That is what caught my eye when the 
contract was awarded. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I would be very concerned about that if that is 
true, and I will be happy to get right back to you —— 

Ms. NORTON. And we would like to know whether or not they are 
considered generally or whether that was an exception, and if you 
would let the chairman knows so that we can —— 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes, certainly, I can tell you —— 
Ms. NORTON.—go back —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—and I think Mr. Healy will back me up. For any 

on-duty if you will period of contract, performance, that should be 
standard language in any contract how —— 

Ms. NORTON. I would think so. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. To your point, when you’re living and working 24 

hours a day if you will on the river, that may be where we have 
some issues. 
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Ms. NORTON. Yes, but Mr. Healy—there was a similar report 16 
years ago about this systemic harassment of women, and there 
were specific recommendations made. Are you aware of that report? 
I mean, we hear again 16 years later. Are you aware of that task 
force report about similar problems? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. The Women in Law Enforcement report? 
Ms. NORTON. Yes. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes, I am. 
Ms. NORTON. When did you become first aware of that report? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. I —— 
Ms. NORTON. And were any of its recommendations imple-

mented? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. No, they were not as far as I can ever figure out. 

There were, as the chairman actually mentioned, 30 different rec-
ommendations. I think things were worked on during that time 
frame. I wasn’t involved at the time. 

Ms. NORTON. Of course. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. But —— 
Ms. NORTON. How can we be assured that any recommendations 

either from this committee or from similar task forces since— 
worked on but full implementation apparently did not occur so we 
are back here again 16 years later? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes, it’s a very regrettable action that did not 
occur. 

Ms. NORTON. Finally, Mr. Chairman, if I could ask, apparently 
in that report 16.3 percent of the Park Service women in law en-
forcement, park ranger and special agents were women. What is 
the percentage of women in those positions today? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I believe we have about 247 women in law en-
forcement out of about a force of 1,664 so —— 

Ms. NORTON. So do the math. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. I’m not the best in math but about 15 percent or 

so. 
Ms. NORTON. You are going down, not up. One of the first things 

that agencies and private sector does when this problem occurs is 
to of course increase the number of women in law enforcement or 
in the applicable mission. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Ms. NORTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. I thank the gentlelady. 
I will now recognize the chairman for Michigan, Mr. Walberg. 
Mr. WALBERG. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thanks to the 

panel for being here and we hope this is very worthwhile for your-
selves but also for the people you serve with. 

Having spent many weeks in national parks, North, South, East, 
and West, as a kid with my family camping, hiking, fishing, and 
then with my family doing the same thing even as I look forward 
to being out in Glacier National Park this next August, impressive 
territories we have, impressive treasures. And in every case, my ex-
perience, we have been treated with great respect and profes-
sionalism by the staff, so it is concerning to hear some of the be-
hind-the-scenes and though we deal with humans and yet these 
type of things have to be addressed, so thank you for being here. 
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Ms. Kelly, can you describe for this committee some of Super-
intendent Neubacher’s behavior that you observed which prompted 
the investigation? 

Ms. MARTIN. Thank you, Congressman, for that question. Myself 
personally I have been the chief there at Yosemite for the last 10 
years, and the marker point for me was when we had the rim fire 
of 2013 and I happened to be off unit on another fire and return-
ing. My duties have been to act as the agency administrator rep-
resentative for the superintendent when we have large incidents in 
the park. I returned. I told my supervisor I would be returning and 
I could assume those duties. And for whatever unknown reason, I 
was not allowed to perform those duties that is part of my official 
duties of my job within the park. 

It was for myself personally discrediting my professionalism, and 
it was humiliating for me to not be able to perform that job and 
that function in front of my peers, our interagency wildfire coopera-
tors, and even the—our park internal staff that I was not able to 
provide that leadership. 

Mr. WALBERG. Any rational reason given to you for that? 
Ms. MARTIN. No, sir. 
Mr. WALBERG. Any reason at all? 
Ms. MARTIN. No, sir. 
Mr. WALBERG. So it was just an arbitrary decision that was made 

by Superintendent Neubacher to not allow you to function —— 
Ms. MARTIN. I requested to be able to split the duties between 

myself and I have a very competent deputy fire chief that took over 
two roles, both the agency administrator and he was also in the 
role of incident commander trainee. I’m confounded as to why I was 
not able to truly perform that—in that role. 

Mr. WALBERG. In your testimony you mentioned the fear of retal-
iation for speaking out about what was happening at the park. Can 
you describe for us this concern and where it stems from? And are 
you aware of other employees that share the same concern? 

Ms. MARTIN. The fear of retaliation, the fear of coming forward 
is not necessarily in our culture to come forward and to describe 
hostile type of situations or a toxic type of environment. Ours is 
certainly dealing more with a hostile work environment. It’s not 
dealing with sexual harassment, so that’s not at issue right here. 

But people do not fear—or they do fear that they are not safe in 
bringing issues to management. And one of the concerns that I’ve 
heard is that within Yosemite National Park we have a super-
intendent, and our deputy superintendent position has been vacant 
for three years. So unfortunately, there’s a concentration of deci-
sion-making within one person and is not necessarily shared within 
the deputy superintendent and the superintendent. 

Mr. WALBERG. Has that been done for a purpose, keeping the va-
cancy there? 

Ms. MARTIN. I’m unaware of why that would remain vacant for 
the last three years. 

Mr. WALBERG. Do you believe Superintendent Neubacher’s ac-
tions to be an isolated incident or are they reflective of a larger cul-
tural problem within the National Park Service? 

Ms. MARTIN. It’s hard for me to address the larger cultural—I 
have reason to believe that it probably is a larger cultural type of 
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issue. I do believe that it is important for the image to be in-house 
and for us to kind of take care of things in-house and not be able 
to share these types of issues publicly, but I think it’s very, very 
important for the women that are—that have left, the women that 
are currently there at Yosemite to really understand and daylight 
what it is, what the behaviors that are exhibited that really truly 
cost people’s integrity and a reduction in morale. 

Mr. WALBERG. Well, thank you for your testimony, and I yield 
back. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. The gentleman yields. I have just a follow- 
up to that. 

Mr. Reynolds, there are two things the committee would like to 
see. You have been unwilling so far to give us the expedited inquiry 
into the Yosemite situation. Is that something you will provide to 
the committee? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Mr. Chairman, we did give your staff—I think 
they call it an on-camera—I’m not sure what that means but —— 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. In camera, yes. Yes. 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—in camera, you know, visibile—and I know 

you’re concerned about it. I know we’ve had some exchanging cor-
respondence. I’ll continue to work with our folks on it. It is an ac-
tive investigation I guess is the short answer that I could give you. 
I am not unwilling to share with you data when I can. I just don’t 
want to infringe on —— 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. It is something in your possession in Con-
gress would like to see it, so can you name anything that we 
shouldn’t able to see? Is there anything classified in there? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. No. And I don’t disagree with your ability to get 
that. I’m just hampered a little bit —— 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. Wait, wait, wait —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—by the process —— 
Chairman CHAFFETZ.—don’t disagree with my—you won’t give it 

to us. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. At the moment we’re having conversations about 

how to do that —— 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. What is the conversation? What is the hesi-

tation? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. To keep—to be candid with you, sir, to keep the 

investigative process as clean as we can while we’re getting into it. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. So you don’t trust Congress? Is that what 

you are saying? It would make it dirty? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. No, that’s not what I mean. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Well, you said you are trying to keep it 

clean and you won’t give it to Congress so —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS. It’s just for public data purposes during an inves-

tigation, but I would—I will pledge to you to continue to work —— 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. No, I want you to pledge to give it to Con-

gress. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. I understand that, sir. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Do you need a subpoena? What do you 

need? Who makes this decision? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. It will be a decision that I will talk over with our 

solicitors predominantly. 
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Chairman CHAFFETZ. I would also like to see anybody who has 
been fired, dismissed, or retired from Yellowstone since 2013. Is 
that something you can give to us? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes, I can. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. When will you give that to us? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. I will give it to you within 48 hours. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Fair enough. Thank you. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. I will now recognize the gentleman from 

Maryland, Mr. Cummings. 
Mr. CUMMINGS. I want to pick up where the gentleman left off 

a few minutes ago, this whole thing of retaliation. And as I was 
listening to you, Ms. Martin, I cannot help but think about the 
question of how do you tackle a culture? It is not easy. 

In the Baltimore City Police Department I had asked for pattern- 
or-practice investigation. And the reason why I asked for it is be-
cause we had people in the department, good policeman, who knew 
that things were going bad and wrong but they do not feel com-
fortable talking about it because they were worried that they would 
be retaliated against. Their comrades would do some things that 
may be harmful to them. And when we got that pattern-or-practice 
report, it was 10 times worse, 10 times, probably 20 than I ever 
imagined with regard to African-American men and the way they 
were being treated by police. 

So, Mr. Healy, you said something that really kind of struck me. 
You said, ‘‘I feel as if my career and possibly my safety and the 
safety of other Grand Canyon employees may be at some risk.’’ 
That is a hell of a statement and it is one that I feel pain that you 
even have to even think it, let alone say it. And the mere fact that 
you have said it in a public forum puts you even, I would assume, 
in even more jeopardy. It is one thing to think it, it is another 
thing to say it, it is another thing to say it in a public forum. 

What can we do to help? Because, as I see it, the culture that 
I talked about before and I think that Ms. Martin is alluding to 
and probably you, too, is one that is—I mean, you almost have to 
dig deep and pry out probably a lot of folks and almost start over 
again. And so I am trying to figure out what is your hope? I mean, 
I am sure you have thought about this, said to yourself, you know, 
there has got to be a better way. I mean, how do you see that way? 

Because let me tell you something. The reason I am raising this 
is because, you know, in my opening I talked about 16 years ago. 
Guess what? Most of these people weren’t even—none of them, 
none of these people were here 16 years ago except me. They 
weren’t even here. So another group of Congress people were ad-
dressing this supposedly, and yet it has not been corrected and the 
culture grows and metastasizes and gets worse. 

And you come here and I want you all to be effective and effi-
cient. See, not only do I—I mean, I know that you have your con-
cerns about retaliation, about your comrades being all upset, but 
it will be a damn shame if you came here, you gave your testi-
mony—and this is my great fear—and it was not effective and effi-
cient and what you drive it to do. But that is a lose-lose all the way 
around. You go back and they said why did you do that? And then 
it gets worse. 
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And so help me in looking at what you have seen. I think Ms. 
Norton said one thing, Ms. Martin. She talked about having more 
women in key positions in law enforcement and supervisory posi-
tions. But what do you see? I mean, how would you like to see us 
try to break this culture? And do you have confidence—you made 
some complementary statements, Mr. Healy, about some of the 
things you have seen being done but then you came right back and 
talked about the negative impact of some of the positive things that 
were supposedly happening. So help us. Help us help you. 

Mr. HEALY. Thank you. I think what would help is that if we can 
ensure that these people that have come forward to me to ask for 
assistance in reporting things are protected to the same extent that 
I am. And I think, you know, in preparing for this testimony, I 
went back to some of these individuals that had bad experiences 
at the park and I asked them to help me deliver that message here. 
And I heard a lot of fear from those people, you know? And there’s 
individuals at the park that have, you know, as I mentioned in my 
testimony, threatened people with violence and they’re still there. 
And I think account—holding those people accountable is a really 
good step. And I’m not really sure how Congress can assist the 
Park Service in doing that, but that would be a good first step. 

And then the other thing you mentioned was you alluded to 
the—shutting down the River District and the river contracting. 
Those decisions were made—I’m not sure who made the decisions, 
but there was definitely no consultation with folks on the ground 
that are doing the work like myself or my coworkers that have ex-
perience and understand the risks and making some of those deci-
sions. And I think if the Park Service leadership were to more ef-
fectively engage its employees in developing solutions for these 
problems, we would—it will go a long way. 

Mr. CUMMINGS. What about you, Ms. Martin? 
Ms. MARTIN. Thank you, Mr. Cummings. I believe that we really 

have to start with the awareness of the culture that’s been created 
over the years, and we have to—like you said, we have to root it 
out. We have to really understand what’s at the root of this type 
of culture and this type of behavior that then supports sexual har-
assment and hostile work environments. I think that’s truly our 
first step is awareness of the issues of how those behaviors actually 
ascend to these types of situations. 

Mr. CUMMINGS. Now, Ms. Martin, I have been on the Naval 
Academy Board of Visitors for about 10 years now, and one of the 
things—we had a major sexual harassment problem, and what we 
found is that a lot of the midshipmen—I am going to something 
you just said to make sure I am clear. A lot of the midshipmen 
were doing things that were harassment and they claim—and some 
of them—I believe some of them—I am not sure about. So they 
didn’t even know I was harassed. I mean, can you comment on 
that? You say you just talked about awareness. Go ahead. 

Ms. MARTIN. At some point we have to create an environment 
that’s open and transparent with our leadership to really be able 
to talk about these hard issues. And until we get there, we’re going 
to continue to have these misunderstandings between management 
and employees as to he said/she said. And until we get to that 
point that we can then provide this transparency and really expose 
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it for what it is, we need to really talk about the behaviors and be 
able to communicate that. 

Right now, there’s so much fear in being able to communicate 
what that is, and so I see that as, number one, the awareness and 
the culture that we’ve created and then being able to communicate 
what it is that creates these types of situations. Then —— 

Mr. CUMMINGS. I am sorry. Please. 
Ms. MARTIN. And then at that point how do we then best educate 

our employees so that we don’t have these kinds of—we don’t have 
these kinds of hearings 16 years from now or five years from now. 
We just—we’ve got to think about things differently in terms of 
how we can be more communicative, you know, with our senior 
leaders. Right now, that’s not happening. 

Mr. CUMMINGS. And now that you have heard what they just 
said, Mr. Reynolds, can you tell us how, you know—you know, I get 
frustrated because, you know, I know we are going to hear—you 
say a lot of nice things about what you are going to do and, you 
know, but convince us that you get it and that your folks get it be-
cause I am telling you, after these lights go out, they have got to 
go back. They have got to go back. I mean, how do you assure them 
and people coming into the service or want to come into the service 
or people that are there that they don’t have to go through this 
crap? This is crazy. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. CUMMINGS. And unacceptable. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. First off, I will join you in protecting my col-

leagues —— 
Mr. CUMMINGS. Now, how are you going to do that? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Well, the first thing I’ll do is we really need to 

dive into the cultural issues, as well as, if you will, the fundamen-
tals of —— 

Mr. CUMMINGS. Well, what about the person who is watching us 
right now who is sitting there laughing and just—I mean, just like 
can’t wait till they get back. I got something for them. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. CUMMINGS. I am going to hurt them. I’m going to do some-

thing to them. How do you deal with that person, those people? Be-
cause apparently, there are quite a few. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. We can’t let those lights go off. We have to not 
have any darkness, right? It has to be very transparent from here 
forward. There has to be an accountability that everybody can see 
and touch. 

They’re also—with our culture we’re trying to pull together some 
parts of our organization. So, for example, we’ve never really had 
affinity groups in the National Park Service, women’s groups or 
other employee groups that might come together, and we’re trying 
to attempt to do that in order for there to be a cohort that can be 
another protective kind of place that people—a safe place if you 
will to be—also for management then to be required to listen to 
those groups and to those employees about what the concerns 
might be. 

Mr. CUMMINGS. All right. Thank you very much. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. I now recognize the gentleman from Geor-

gia, Mr. Hice. 
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Mr. HICE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
You know, based on the actions of Director Jarvis, I think further 

oversight of the National Park Service is desperately needed. 
This is actually my third hearing on this matter. As a part of 

Oversight, we of course were here in June but also but also Nat-
ural Resources Subcommittee. We were with Director Jarvis in 
May. 

And I want to thank Ms. Martin, Mr. Healy for your testimony 
this afternoon and what you have endured. 

Director Reynolds, let me start with you. Based on your testi-
mony, I know that you are aware of the sexual harassment cases 
specifically at Cape Canaveral, the operation there. Can you tell 
me just how many total complaints came from there even, you 
know, those that are ongoing or resolved cases? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes, Congressman. I believe there’s about three 
complaints, but I believe there might be a few more IG reports that 
I’ll follow-up in a confirmation with you on that. 

Mr. HICE. Okay. There has actually been four. And in fact, the 
Washington Post reported in early July that four investigations 
there since 2012 is an unusually high number, they said, for such 
a small operation of the National Park Service. And, as you just 
mentioned, these are just the ones that we know about. As has 
been testified to today, people are scared. Who knows how many 
other cases have been swept under the rug because of the culture 
of fear. 

During the time of these investigations since 2012, who was the 
superintendent in charge? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. In 2012 I believe it was Superintendent Palfrey. 
Mr. HICE. That is correct. And I don’t represent the good people 

of Florida, but just yesterday came across an article in the Florida 
Today, and they reported, like I said, just yesterday that Super-
intendent Palfrey was promoted to the position of special assistant 
to the Southeast regional director. Are you aware of that? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes, sir. 
Mr. HICE. Okay. And as she has been promoted, she gets to work 

at home, she gets a comfortable $116,000 salary. And you men-
tioned in your testimony a few moments ago that the chief ranger 
at Cape Canaveral was no longer at the location there, but you 
failed to mention that the superintendent has received a promotion 
to the Southeast regional director. Do you know where the South-
east regional director office is located? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. It’s in Atlanta. And if I could offer, sir, that —— 
Mr. HICE. No, let me go on. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Okay. 
Mr. HICE. It is in Atlanta, and that is in my backyard. And that 

raises a great deal of concern for me personally. You are also aware 
that Director Jarvis testified here in Congress over a book deal 
where he failed to secure proper permission for that book. You are 
aware of that? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. HICE. And, Mr. Chairman, you know, my point in all of this 

is the pattern that is clearly unfolding before us. Obviously, under 
the direction of Director Jarvis there is unaccountability, there is 
poor management, unsafe work environment, and that has per-
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meated throughout the National Park Service. And what is the con-
sequence for Director Jarvis? Again, he gets a mere slap on the 
wrist. He has to go through some silly monthly ethics training once 
a month, watch a video or something for the duration of his time. 

And so here is what people are getting at the Park Service: these 
type of slaps on the wrist and/or promotions. You know, this is just 
insane. This is absolute insanity. 

And, Mr. Chairman, on June 16 I wrote a letter to the President, 
President Obama, asking for the resignation of Director Jarvis. 
And I actually have a copy of that letter here that I would like to 
go in the record. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. He is asking unanimous consent. Without 
objection, so ordered. 

Mr. HICE. And while I understand Director Jarvis is going to re-
tire in January, what we have heard yet again here today and 
what continues to be prevalent in National Park Service I just 
want it on record that I stand by my position in requesting the im-
mediate resignation of Director Jarvis. 

And with that, sir, I yield back. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. The gentleman yields back. 
I now recognize the gentleman from Vermont, Mr. Welch, for five 

minutes. 
Mr. WELCH. Thank you very much. 
You know, the National Park Service is a great treasure. It is un-

believable. We have all been to the national parks and I go to one 
every year, so it is pretty sad to hear about this. And my experi-
ence as a visitor, as a hiker is one of just enormous appreciation 
for the staff that I meet from the bottom on up. It is really quite 
wonderful. And my sense is that in general there is just an enor-
mous appreciation for the work that people do. 

My sense, too, is that the people who work there, it is a way of 
life for them. They love the outdoors, they love nature, they love 
the history and tradition. So it is very sad that also part of it is 
a situation that you all have been describing, but I want to take 
all three of you actually for the work you have done and for coming 
forward. 

I will start with you, Mr. Reynolds. You know, the culture on this 
has got to be in a way zero tolerance, and the culture and how em-
ployees are expected to work does come from the top, and that has 
to imbued from the top down and then reinforced in every way. So 
what concrete steps can you take to do that? If the leadership 
doesn’t take this deadly seriously, then no one else will. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. We have to get this right. This has to be our top 
priority. One of the first things that I would like to do—I’m in day 
52 here in this new job, so I’m just—I found the bathroom, so now 
we need to get going on some very big focus through the chains of 
command. We’ll be meeting next week with some of the field lead-
ership, and I would like to be able to tell them at that point what 
we plan to do with a diversity and inclusion outfit that would be 
tied to my office —— 

Mr. WELCH. You know —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—and that can start working on the cultural 

issues because you’re right, it is —— 
Mr. WELCH. Well —— 
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Mr. REYNOLDS. We have some of the most outstanding public em-
ployees, as these two represent —— 

Mr. WELCH. You do, but you know what —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—and we have to give them that kind of manage-

ment. 
Mr. WELCH. Yes, but I don’t quite know what that means, what 

you just said. I don’t think it takes a big meeting. It is like, look, 
folks, any unwanted advances just aren’t allowed. I mean, how 
complicated is that? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. We have put out quite a bit of extensive refresher 
if you will and reminder and zero tolerance policy. But I agree with 
you and I think it needs to be a step further, which is actions. Ac-
tions will be louder than words in this in terms of the account-
ability. 

Mr. WELCH. The action is I think—all the people in management 
have to meet with their staff and they have to have a discussion 
and basically say it. It is not complicated. They have to say it and 
mean it. 

And then on the other hand and we also want to get more 
women into leadership positions as well. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Right. 
Mr. WELCH. All right. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Will the gentleman yield? 
Mr. WELCH. I will. Yes, go ahead. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Mr. Reynolds, what was your job before 

this job? What were you doing at the Park Service? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. I was the associate director for workforce —— 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Yes, so you are in charge of H.R. Don’t lead 

Mr. Welch to believe that you are in day 54 and, hey, I am the new 
kid on the block. You have been running the H.R. department at 
the Park Service since 2014, so your words are little bit hollow in 
here, hey, well, you know, we have got to do some refresher. And 
can you give me a single instance where you have—you said you 
have a zero tolerance policy. Are you kidding me? Show me an ex-
ample of zero tolerance. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Well, you know, first off, I understand your per-
ception, and I’ve been dealing with revamping the whole systems 
and process of workforce, haven’t gotten there yet. We have the 
zero tolerance policy, and I guess my point is —— 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. Wait a second. 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—putting it into action. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. It is Mr. Welch’s time, but you haven’t got-

ten there yet. You had the job—when did you first take on that job 
in human resources? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Two years ago. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. I know, but give me a month in 2014. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. April of ’14. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Okay. Sorry. It is your time but —— 
Mr. WELCH. No, I appreciate your questions. 
You know, here is my view on this. We can have personnel poli-

cies and we can write down the this’s and the that’s and it can be 
10 pages or 500 pages. None of it means anything other than what 
is the culture that people in that environment are expected to live 
by? And people respond much more to a reinforced culture because 
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it is the way it is, and that comes with a pride. It comes with a 
mutual respect. 

So, you know, give me all the policies in the world, but employ-
ees are not going to be thinking at the time they may want to do 
something that they shouldn’t be doing whether this is a violation 
of subsection 4 of article 5 in chapter 2. It is just going to be—we 
don’t do that around here. And that I really do think is a top-down 
responsibility. It is just every single day in every way. 

And the reason I got a little nervous about your answer is that 
it suggested to me or this is the implication I have which may not 
be true, but that if we write the right policy, that will take care 
of it. And, you know what, we don’t have to write anything and we 
can take care of it by having management make it clear that any 
unwanted advance is totally out of line. 

Mr. CUMMINGS. Will the gentleman yield? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. I’m sorry if I misled—misunderstood —— 
Mr. WELCH. You didn’t mislead —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—Congressman, but I agree with you. 
Mr. CUMMINGS. If the gentleman would yield just for one second, 

I know you don’t have much time. 
I just had one question. When you were running H.R., what does 

zero tolerance—what did that mean? Because I hope it is not about 
writing a memo to do a refresher course because let me tell you 
something. The people watching this at the Park Service, when 
they hear you say that, they say, oh, boy, we are in great shape. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. CUMMINGS. Nothing is going to happen, and we will keep 

doing what we have been doing. I am just telling you. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Right. 
Mr. CUMMINGS. So tell us, define for all of us so that other people 

when they ask their questions will know what you meant when you 
were zero-tolerancing. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Well, we need to have a much better funda-
mental set of professionals —— 

Mr. CUMMINGS. But what did it mean when you were doing the 
job? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. It should mean that we have —— 
Mr. CUMMINGS. No, no, no, no, no, no. I am asking you, you were 

head of H.R., am I right? Come on now. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. The Workforce Directorate, yes. 
Mr. CUMMINGS. All right. All I am asking you—the chairman 

talked about zero tolerance. That was your thing. All I am asking 
you is what did that mean? The reason why I am asking you this 
is because I am trying to predict your future. I am trying to figure 
out how you are going to act in this position because they have got 
to go back. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. CUMMINGS. And it seems listening to you say I am going to 

write a little memo, I am going to send them a refresher course, 
those guys are laughing at you like you are a big joke. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Right. 
Mr. CUMMINGS. And you know what happens? They get screwed. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. What it means to me is to make —— 

VerDate Nov 24 2008 12:01 Jul 31, 2017 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00056 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 H:\26123.TXT APRILK
IN

G
-6

43
0 

w
ith

 D
IS

T
IL

LE
R



53 

Mr. CUMMINGS. What it meant to you. What did it mean? And 
then tell me what it means now. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. It meant to me to make the safest place we can 
for our employees. It meant that they would have the ability to re-
port, that they would be protected. 

Mr. CUMMINGS. Well, you failed. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes, we have, so far. 
Mr. CUMMINGS. Sitting here —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS. We have. 
Mr. CUMMINGS.—failed. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. We have. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. I now recognize the gentleman from South 

Carolina, Mr. Gowdy. 
Mr. GOWDY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Reynolds, I want to you tell you. You have managed to do 

something that I have not seen done in the five years I have been 
here. Peter Welch is one of the more level-headed, reasonable- 
minded, one of the more decent human beings that you will meet 
in public service. You have managed to even get him upset. Getting 
Mr. Cummings and I upset is not as much of a challenge. Getting 
Peter Welch upset is. 

And I think what upsets him is when you have a fact pattern of 
someone spying on another person while they are taking a shower, 
you don’t need a policy change and you don’t need a new memo. 
You need handcuffs and a trip to the sex offender registry. That is 
what you need. 

So, Ms. Martin, you said a couple of things in your statement 
that resonated with me. You said, ‘‘It is a deep, conflicted, and 
risky decision for me to come forward and speak up today.’’ And 
you said, many women ‘‘feel shame and fear of coming forward to 
report misconduct’’ and cannot bring themselves ‘‘to be the ones 
who have the difficult and painful task of speaking up.’’ Here is 
what I want you to help me do. I want the fear and the difficulty 
and the pain to belong to the perpetrator, not the victim. So I want 
you to tell us as much about your fact pattern, your story, and I 
want you to stop and cite all those instances where something more 
could have been and should have been done, and do it on behalf 
of the women who maybe don’t have the ability to speak up like 
you do. 

Ms. MARTIN. Thank you, Congressman, for this opportunity. It is 
a very painful and conflicted position that I’m in right now. This 
happened. I was a victim of a peeping tom at Grand Canyon in 
1987. It was a very difficult and painful experience for me. I re-
ported it to two supervisors immediately that first day that I was 
able to positively identify a park ranger in uniform that was 
peering through my bathroom window. I reported it to two super-
visors. Visibly shaken, it was very, very difficult for me to do. It 
was very embarrassing. I didn’t think anybody would actually even 
believe me that something like this had happened to me. 

I was given options. I could say nothing and move on. I could file 
an EEO complaint or a criminal complaint. I had to think about 
that for a couple of days as to how I wanted to proceed. I was just 
starting my career in the Federal service in my early 20s, and I 
just did not want to make this an issue. I just did not want to come 
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forward in admitting a complaint like this this early in my career 
and be labeled as a troublemaker. 

In the end, what I agreed to was a conference or a sit-down with 
the two supervisors that I reported this to, along with the perpe-
trator. He apologized to me. He assured me that this had never 
happened before and that it’ll never happen again. 

And so for me this has been with me my entire career, and so 
when I think of zero tolerance, I think this is where this was the 
hardest part for me is to—it just did not feel like zero tolerance for 
me. I’ve had to live with this a long time. This particular individual 
continued to be moved through the Park Service and just recently 
retired. 

So for me I believe that this was the tipping point for me to come 
forward and tell my story that this is why I could no longer remain 
silent. There’s a lot of other women out there that I represent that 
these very same things have happened or very similar things, and 
they just fear that management will not take action and then we 
become victims again for coming forward. 

Mr. GOWDY. So the perpetrator went on and finished his career 
with the Park Service and is now enjoying the perks of his retire-
ment? 

Ms. MARTIN. That’s my understanding. 
Mr. GOWDY. Well, I will just say this. You should never have to 

choose between your career and justice ever. You should be able to 
pursue both of them with all the vigor in the world, so I am sorry 
it happened to you and I appreciate the courage it takes to come 
and share your story. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. I thank the gentleman. 
I will now recognize Ms. Plaskett. 
Ms. PLASKETT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And thank you for 

being here this afternoon and sharing this somewhat uncomfort-
able discussion with us here. 

We all know that there is an urgent need to stem sexual harass-
ment, discrimination by increasing female representation in the 
workforce and particularly at senior leadership positions and indi-
viduals having a say in how these policies are done. 

Ms. Martin, you wrote in your prepared statements—I am going 
to quote—‘‘The jewels of the Park Service heavily favor men in the 
most powerful positions of superintendents, deputy superintend-
ents, fire, and law enforcement.’’ Mr. Reynolds, how many national 
parks are there, and how many park superintendents are women? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. We have 413 parks, and as you know, Congress-
woman, there is not a superintendent necessarily in every park. 
And I believe—I’m going to find the actual number for you, but I 
think it’s around 258 superintendents —— 

Ms. PLASKETT. Okay. 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—and I believe about 127 are women. If you just 

give me a minute —— 
Ms. PLASKETT. Okay. 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—I’ll find the right number. 
Ms. PLASKETT. That would be good. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. It’s about a 60/40—slightly under 40 percent. 
Ms. PLASKETT. So 60 percent are? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Men. 
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Ms. PLASKETT. Men. And then those positions below that at the 
deputy superintendent level? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Deputy superintendents, I have 58 percent men, 
42 percent female —— 

Ms. PLASKETT. And —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—and I will clarify for you, 62 percent men, 38 fe-

male on superintendents. 
Ms. PLASKETT. Okay. And the parks that the women are super-

intendents over, are they the same size and scope in terms of geo-
graphic size, as well as personnel, as the men that are superintend-
ents —— 

Mr. REYNOLDS. You know, I’d have to —— 
Ms. PLASKETT.—because there are different kinds of superintend-

ents. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Correct. I think it’s pretty evenly distributed. We 

could look at that more carefully, but I have not heard a concern 
on that level other than our demographic numbers. 

Ms. PLASKETT. Okay. I know that there are two initiatives to ex-
pand the presence of women in the Park Service. So you said that 
it seems to be evenly distributed. I mean, it is not exactly what the 
demographics of our country are but it seems evenly distributed as 
much as wouldn’t seem askew. What are the initiatives that you 
are doing to increase the number of women in that workforce? So 
we have the same number level at leadership, so you have a 60/ 
40 split. Do you have a 60/40 in terms of at middle management 
and then in terms of the workers that are in the park? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I’d have to pull out exact numbers, but I think 
it tracks fairly close to that. We do have women now scattered 
through in our senior leadership as well, in our regional director 
ranks, for example, and in our associate director ranks. 

We have some initiatives in general to diversify the Park Service. 
We also have strong majority numbers of our employees, and so 
we’re working across the board. We’ve set up a new recruitment of-
fice to begin to focus the H.R. community on that very topic. 

Ms. PLASKETT. Okay. I know that you have the Women’s Em-
ployee Resource Group, the Fire Management Leadership Board. 
How are they bringing benefit to the Park Service? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Well, I think they’re a start. I don’t think they’re 
fully achieving their goals, but they bring us some tools and some 
awareness and some requirement on our leadership to be consid-
ering these things in the recruitment process —— 

Ms. PLASKETT. What are the goals of those initiatives? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Well, the Employee Resource Group, there’s a 

number of them that we’re trying to form to give people, again, a 
safe place to have a cohort to bring forward, for example, if it’s the 
women’s—we call them ERGs, Employee Resource Group. Then 
they can bring forward issues important to women in the service. 
They can represent a voice. They can be a defense place if they 
need it, that kind of thing. 

Ms. PLASKETT. And I would be remiss without asking—I know 
we were talking about sexual harassment against women, but how 
many people of color do you have as superintendent of the parks? 
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Mr. REYNOLDS. I don’t know the answer to that. I can quickly get 
it to you, though. But I will tell you that our workforce is generally 
80 percent white across the board. 

Ms. PLASKETT. Across the board? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Ms. PLASKETT. Okay. But I would like to know how many men, 

women of color are superintendents and deputy superintendents 
—— 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I would be happy to get that to you. 
Ms. PLASKETT.—of the parks. Thank you. I yield back. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. I thank the gentlewoman. 
I will now recognize the gentleman from Alabama, Mr. Palmer, 

for five minutes. 
Mr. PALMER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Reynolds, what steps has the National Park Service taken in 

response to the findings of the Grand Canyon’s OIG report? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes, thank you, Congressman. We have about 18 

steps that the OIG asked us to endeavor on, and this included ev-
erything from some of the training and awareness kinds of pro-
grams that we talked about to disciplinary action. 

Mr. PALMER. One of the action items outlined by the Park Serv-
ice in response to the OIG report is that managers who failed to 
properly report all allegations of sexual harassment would be held 
responsible and that appropriate disciplinary action would be taken 
by May of 2016. To date, what if any disciplinary action has the 
Park Service taken against these managers? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I believe everybody in the canyon—and Mr. 
Healy can back me up on this—have been removed from the job 
that they had. The boatman has been removed from the park and 
is undergoing a disciplinary process as we speak. 

Mr. PALMER. Well, as I was listening to testimony earlier, it 
seemed to me that Mr. Healy felt like some of the action was taken 
was more in the context of a promotion than disciplinary action. 
Did I misunderstand that or did I hear that correctly? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I’m not aware of any —— 
Mr. PALMER. Mr. Healy? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. I’m sorry. 
Mr. HEALY. Thank you. Yes, the supervisor of the River—former 

River District was given a temporary promotion to another park. 
Mr. PALMER. Do you think that was appropriate? 
Mr. HEALY. I don’t, and a lot of employees at the park feel the 

same way. 
Mr. PALMER. Let me read something to you that I find particu-

larly troubling. It is a quote from the National Park Service expe-
dited investigation, and it is from two trained investigators who 
interviewed some of the victims. And it says, ‘‘It is difficult to ar-
ticulate in words the emotions that exuded from those inter-
viewed.’’ It says that ‘‘It is apparent that these employees have suf-
fered in their positions and are traumatized by the harassment 
they are subjected to. During the interviews, the emotions ranged 
from inconsolable tears, anger, frustration, helplessness, and re-
gret.’’ In that regard, Mr. Reynolds, do you think appropriate ac-
tions have been taken? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I believe —— 
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Mr. PALMER. Your microphone, please. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Sorry. I believe what you are reading from, sir, 

is the Yosemite expedited inquiry or is —— 
Mr. PALMER. Well, I mean, it seems that there is a pattern across 

here that women were intimidated, other people were intimidated, 
they were traumatized —— 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. PALMER.—and you gave one guy a temporary promotion. Has 

anyone been fired? Has that question been asked, Mr. Chairman? 
Has anyone been fired? Has anyone terminated? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. No one has been fired yet, no. 
Mr. PALMER. That seems to be a pattern —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS. A disciplinary action is—are underway. And the 

one thing that I —— 
Mr. PALMER. Let me go on and ask you a couple of other ques-

tions. In November 2015 the OIG found that the deputy super-
intendent and other managers of Grand Canyon improperly shared 
personal information of the women who wrote to Secretary Jewell 
reporting the egregious sexual harassment in the Grand Canyon 
River District. 

One former Grand Canyon employee who submitted a statement 
for the record stated that, ‘‘Given the culture of retaliation and hos-
tility towards the victims within the Grand Canyon River District, 
I, along with the other victims of Diane Chalfant’s negligence, am 
rightly terrified that the alleged perpetrators will contact us di-
rectly to retaliate against us.’’ I would like to enter that statement 
in the record. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. Without objection, so ordered. 
Mr. PALMER. What actions has the Park Service taken in re-

sponse to the disclosure of this personal information? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. The actions that we’ve taken to date is to recog-

nize that there was inappropriate actions for the EEO process —— 
Mr. PALMER. Well, that is great that you recognize it, but I want 

to know, has anyone been fired? Has anyone been demoted? I mean 
—— 

Mr. REYNOLDS. No, what I can do under the interest of the Pri-
vacy Act for these kinds of things is to personally debrief with you 
on what we’re doing with disciplinary actions. I can assure you that 
they’re underway. 

Mr. PALMER. All right. And I just wonder, given all of this, how 
any Park Service employees can trust that managers will keep 
their information confidential, that any Park Service employees can 
be confident that if they are harassed in any way that they will be 
listened to and that action will be taken to protect them? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. The—this has —— 
Mr. PALMER. It is disconcerting to me, Mr. Chairman, that we 

have had hearings with other agencies and it just seems that this 
goes on and on and on and no real punitive action is taken. And 
as long as we have that stance, as long as no real punitive action 
is taken, these types of things are going to continue to happen. 

My time is expired. I yield back. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. I thank the gentleman. 
I will now recognize myself here. 
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Let me go back to the expedited investigation at Yosemite. It is 
our understanding of the 21 people the investigators interviewed, 
every single one of them with one exception described Yosemite as 
a hostile work environment as a result of the behavior and conduct 
of the park’s superintendent. Why isn’t there immediate relief? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. We—I’m sorry, Mr. Chairman, that was to me? 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Yes. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. We are actively engaged. The regional director, 

who’s in San Francisco —— 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Wait, wait. Let’s explore the relationship 

between Yosemite and the region. Is there a problem with that 
chain of command there? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. The regional office that oversees Yosemite is in 
San Francisco. We have a regional director. We had the —— 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. What about the deputy? Who is that per-
son? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. We have three deputy regional directors. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Yes. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. And one is in Seattle and two are in San Fran-

cisco, along with the regional director. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Come on. You know what I am getting at. 

What is the —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS. One of the deputies is the wife of the super-

intendent at Yosemite —— 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. So —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—and we have—and if I may, Mr. Chairman, we 

have consciously stovepiped that by having a third party in the 
Midwest region, our EEO manager, help run the investigative proc-
ess. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. Okay. But here is the problem. These 
things didn’t just spring up overnight, right? This has been a long-
standing pattern. You have somebody who is essentially protected 
and empowered by his wife. I mean, people are afraid of actually 
coming forward and filing a complaint. I mean, one of the com-
plaints is that the complaints get back to the superintendent. And 
so when your chain of command and your ability to tell supervisors 
is impeded by the fact that they are husband and wife, how do you 
let that happen? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. It’s even more important why this investigation 
is important to me to understand if the allegations are true —— 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. How long has it been going on? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. I am not sure, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. What you mean you are not sure? You are 

the head of the workforce and then you got a promotion so —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes, I don’t know in terms of what the timescale 

has been, but that is what I am asking the investigative teams to 
look into. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. Who did the—you mean the inspector gen-
eral? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. The inspector general now is involved. We were 
going to be doing our own —— 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. Okay. Ms. Martin, can you shine some 
light on this ongoing problem? 
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Ms. MARTIN. The expedited inquiry took place about the first 
part of August, so I can appreciate the fact that there—the inves-
tigation is now turned over to the IG but with substantial credible 
evidence of a hostile work environment. There was a number of us 
that did fear that the superintendent did release or did have a list 
of names when the regional director came out with the expedited 
inquiry looking for individuals that would be willing to make state-
ments either in person or written about their perception of a hos-
tile work environment at Yosemite. 

So there was a number of us that feared that the superintendent 
probably got our names. We don’t know how. Maybe it was through 
the regional office. We don’t know, but I—there are people that felt 
that they were not going to come forward and provide a statement 
based upon this expedited inquiry because the superintendent had 
a list of names ahead of time. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. Were there any repercussions for that? I 
mean, are you aware of anybody who had any sort of retaliation 
against them because they had stepped forward and made a state-
ment about the reality of what was going on? 

Ms. MARTIN. Not at this point. There—because it still is under 
investigation, we don’t have—we’re not hearing about any—no 
names have been shared. We only have an informal network of in-
dividuals that have come forward, but we—this is the first time I’m 
actually hearing what some of the additional allegations are in 
this—in the statements that have been made. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. Can you share with us any of your other 
personal experience? You mentioned that you had been the victim 
three times, and you were very candid in what happened in the 
1980s. But when you came back to the Park Service, what was 
your experience? 

Ms. MARTIN. I came back to the Park Service after working for 
the Forest Service for 16 years. When I came back in 2006, I was 
very excited that my career was coming back to the Park Service. 
I really enjoy working for the Park Service. But I am—experienced 
the culture that’s very closed in terms of being able to talk about 
these difficult issues. 

And when I came back to the Park Service, my fear was is that 
the first individual that was the perpetrator for my first sexual 
harassment was still working for the Park Service, and indeed he 
was. And it was up until just recently that I—this is why I made 
the decision to come forward is that I really felt that it was impor-
tant to shine light on the fact that this was the tipping point for 
me and for so many other women that needed to have this heard. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. And this was a person who was arrested in 
the year 2000, a high-ranking national park official accused of 
peeping at naked women at a YMCA. Then, there is another inci-
dent report in 2001. They were having voyeurism issues. A police 
officer was sent; this person was found to be behind a home or a 
building in a highly suspicious behavior in that situation. And 
again, nothing happens. It seems to be a little bit of a pattern. 
These are just the one that they caught. 

So if you don’t mind my asking—I hope you don’t—what were the 
other two incidents that happened to you? And then also maybe if 
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you can contrast the difference between Forest Service and Park 
Service. 

Ms. MARTIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The other two incidents, 
one while I was still working at Grand Canyon, it was a—I don’t 
remember the exact year—there was an individual that—between 
the Park Service and the Forest Service we work very closely to-
gether on wildland fire, you know, incidents, and so this particular 
gentlemen worked for the Forest Service, took pictures of me and 
put pictures—my pictures up above his visor in his government ve-
hicle, was quite bold about it and showed other people that he had 
pictures of me in his government vehicle. 

One day, alone at my office, the south rim of Grand Canyon, he 
was bold enough to enter my office and tried to kiss me, and I 
pushed him away, very, very visibly shaken and upset, told a 
friend of mine about what had happened, went to his office, the 
Forest Service office, and proceeded to confront the individual. I 
never had any problems after that, but I did not feel safe at Grand 
Canyon. 

This particular gentleman had applied for the chief of fire and 
aviation job at Grand Canyon, and at that point I proceeded to no-
tify the deputy superintendent at Grand Canyon at that time that 
this particular individual was sexually harassing me. I do believe 
that my conversation with the deputy superintendent most likely 
prevented that individual from getting a job at Grand Canyon. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. And the other incident? 
Ms. MARTIN. The other incident was when, after I left the Na-

tional Park Service, I was working for the U.S. Forest Service and 
there was a private—it was a work-sponsored meeting at a private 
house, and I was sitting next to a superior of mine in my fire chain 
of command, was sitting on a crowded couch, proceeded to run his 
fingers through my hair. I immediately got up from the couch to 
remove myself from the situation. I talked to my immediate super-
visor about it the following day. 

Again, these are very embarrassing situations. It seems so ubiq-
uitous in our culture, in the wildland fire culture that I just didn’t 
feel that I could expose that as part of my—preserving my career. 
But at one point I did mention it to upper management in the For-
est Service, and the appalling reply when I told him about it, well, 
it’s his word against yours. 

So I think at that point I really began to really believe that there 
is a culture of tolerance and acceptance of this kind of behavior in 
our workforce. And I have been powerless, although maybe I could 
have come forward with more formal complaints. I did not. I hon-
estly felt that the preservation of my career and my career status 
with my peers was more important than filing a complaint. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. With some indulgence here, just one more 
question. Mr. Reynolds, during your time heading the workforce, 
how many people were fired for sexual harassment, sexual mis-
conduct, or anything in that genre? How many? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I’d have to look up a number and get it to you 
today, but I am not aware that there were that many fired to be 
honest with you for those actions that you state. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. Were there any? 
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Mr. REYNOLDS. I’ll confirm with you. I don’t have any recollection 
of any at this point. 

Chairman CHAFFETZ. I guess I would like to know how many 
complaints were filed during that time. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Let’s take the end of 2013 —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Okay. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ.—to present day —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Got it. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ.—how many complaints happened at any 

level, and how many people were fired? 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. Thank you. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Thank you. 
Chairman CHAFFETZ. I now recognize the gentleman from Vir-

ginia, Mr. Connolly. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you for 

having this hearing. 
Mr. Reynolds, you are the deputy director of operations? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes, sir. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. So you, in that responsibility, oversee all of the 

national parks in some fashion? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Through their regional directors, yes. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Yes. How long have you been on the job? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Since August 1. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. And why did you get placed in that job on August 

1? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. We had a retirement of my previous boss, Peggy 

O’Dell, and the director asked if I would be willing to be reassigned 
into that job. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. So it wasn’t because of some policy shift or shor-
ing up enforcement or making a statement that now we are taking 
it seriously? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. In this case my understanding is they needed a 
replacement for —— 

Mr. CONNOLLY. Right. Okay. 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—a retirement. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. So you were filling in? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Nothing wrong with that, but I mean —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. CONNOLLY.—I just wanted to make sure. We weren’t making 

a statement trying to deal with what is front of us here? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. No. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. So how long have you been with the Park Serv-

ice? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Thirty years. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Okay. So it is fair to ask you this question, I 

think. I mean, I am looking at the fact that we have got problems, 
you know, in the last few years at the Grand Canyon, Cape Canav-
eral, Yosemite, Yellowstone. I mean, you know, why shouldn’t the 
public be led to believe that—now, behind the redwoods, you know, 
shenanigans are going on? People are being harassed or worse and 
nothing is being done about it because the culture is a so-what 
kind of culture frankly. It doesn’t take this seriously, which has 
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lots of ramifications for would-be employees in terms of the desir-
ability of service, in terms of the integrity of the National Park 
Service itself. The public wouldn’t think this is a good idea or tol-
erate it and it would be very distressed and is distressed to hear 
the stories repeatedly. 

So help me understand. Is this a systemic culture that has to be 
weeded out in the National Park Service? And secondly, would you, 
by way of self-criticism, agree with Ms. Martin that up until now 
it has frankly not gotten the serious attention it deserved? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I would first like to say that I think the majority 
of our employees are some of the best-serving employees I have 
ever seen in the Federal workplace, including folks like these, and 
they deserve a much, much better culture that we have. I hope it’s 
not as systemic —— 

Mr. CONNOLLY. Wait, wait —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—as it appears to be —— 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Wait, wait, wait. They deserve a better culture 

than they have? That seems to be saying there is something —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS. We have a problem. 
Mr. CONNOLLY.—systemically wrong with our culture. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. I believe we have a problem —— 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Okay. 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—and I believe we should be making very urgent 

change to that culture. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Is there training or orientation before I put on 

that uniform as an employee of the National Park Service? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. There is. There —— 
Mr. CONNOLLY. On this subject? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. There is a little on the subject. It needs to be 

more. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. All right. Tell us the—what is the SOP, standard 

operating procedure, when you get a report, whether it is anony-
mous—I assume you have a hotline so if I want to protect my iden-
tity—I am Ms. Martin but I don’t want to be fingered because I am 
on the job surrounded by the people —— 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Right. 
Mr. CONNOLLY.—perpetrating —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Confidentiality. 
Mr. CONNOLLY.—the harassment. So do I have an anonymous 

hotline I can call and have it followed up on? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. To clarify, there is a hotline if you will, a 

reporting mechanism, in each region for the EEO operation. We are 
establishing a new hotline as well, a third-party —— 

Mr. CONNOLLY. Does that mean that each region has its own 
SOP? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. In general, each region has its own offices. They 
should be operating from one Park Service-wide SOP, and that’s 
something we’re shoring up as we speak. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. So there is a manual that—if I am a regional di-
rector —— 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. CONNOLLY.—and I am new on the job, where do I go to get 

guidance on how we handle these things? 
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Mr. REYNOLDS. You go right to your EEO officer in the region. 
And some parts have EEO collateral duty, which is a fancy way of 
saying other duties as assigned, and they often are in H.R., they 
might be in some other—depending on the size of the park —— 

Mr. CONNOLLY. Okay. 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—they might actually have a —— 
Mr. CONNOLLY. All right. Sticking with SOP for a minute be-

cause I am trying to understand —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. CONNOLLY.—what is going on at the National Park Service. 

So I am so-and-so and I have been harassed and I go to my super-
visor, I don’t do it anonymously, and I report that, you know, Fire 
Ranger X has put the hit on me and I am very comfortable, I 
shouldn’t have to put up with that, it is degrading, humiliating, I 
didn’t sign up for this and I want some action, what happens? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. They are referred immediately—if the supervisor 
does their job right—to an EEO specialist or to somebody at the 
hotline at the place that we were referring to. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. But you heard Ms. Martin’s testimony. Her testi-
mony is that when that happened I think to her the answer was 
it is your word against his, right? Is that right, Ms. Martin? 

Ms. MARTIN. That’s correct. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. So, Mr. Reynolds, going to the EEO person didn’t 

work. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. We’ve got problems that I have to fix ur-

gently. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Mr. Healy, a lot of the complaints focused on the 

Grand Canyon, which shocked me. I mean, the Grand Canyon is 
so spectacularly beautiful. I can’t believe that you are focused on 
anything other than beauty, but apparently our Park Service rang-
ers are. What is going on in the Grand Canyon by way of trying 
to address this issue so that it does not recur and that we have ac-
tually shifted the culture at one of the great icons of the world, the 
Grand Canyon? 

Mr. HEALY. We do have the Park Service response to the OIG. 
There’s 18 action items. But I think a very positive step was the 
assignment of our new superintendent Chris Lehnertz. I think peo-
ple at the park feel comfortable with her, and she’s—she called me 
on her second day on the job. She’s definitely someone that will lis-
ten to us and I think has been approaching our issues directly in-
stead of pretending they aren’t there, you know. She’s there to 
make change, and I think that’s a big positive step for us. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. Just a final question because I know my time is 
up and I thank my classmate and friend from Wyoming in indulg-
ing me. But, Mr. Healy, would you agree with Mr. Reynolds that 
we have got a lot of reform that has to happen in the culture? 

Mr. HEALY. Absolutely. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Thank you. 
Thank you, Madam Chairman. 
Mrs. LUMMIS. [Presiding.] The gentleman yields back. 
Mr. Grothman, is recognized. 
Mr. GROTHMAN. Thank you. 
First of all, there was an incident referred to by Chairman 

Chaffetz before, and I am going to ask Mr. Reynolds about it, a sit-
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uation where at first blush the wife was kind of over the husband. 
Is that true? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. In that situation she does not directly supervise 
her husband. She’s in the regional office, which is the next level 
up, sir. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. How long did that situation exist? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. I would have to confirm it, but I think it’s been 

many, many years that they’ve been in service. 
Mr. GROTHMAN. I mean, where she’s—okay. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Long-serving deputy —— 
Mr. GROTHMAN. Office —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—maybe more than 10 years at least. 
Mr. GROTHMAN. Okay. I will give you another general question, 

and this to me is just, you know, more evidence why, no matter 
how tempting it may seem to my colleagues, you never, ever, ever 
want the government to do anything more than they have to. 

Mr. Healy—oh, one more question for Mr. Reynolds. You said 
that you never knew since you were they head of H.R. anybody 
being fired for sexual harassment, right, you couldn’t remember 
that —— 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. I am going to follow up for the chairman on 
—— 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Yes. 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—the data, but it didn’t—I was managing systems 

and processes. 
Mr. GROTHMAN. How long were you head of H.R. in this region? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Two years. 
Mr. GROTHMAN. Two years? How many people did you have 

under you? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. There’s about 18,000 permanents, upwards of 

20,000 by the time the seasons come in. 
Mr. GROTHMAN. So you were the H.R. head of over 18,000 people, 

right? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. In general. The way our system works is our re-

gions actually run their own H.R. programs. We have the sort of 
the overarching system and process oversight. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Do you know in those two years how many peo-
ple were let go, period, for anything? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. We fire quite a few—upwards of at least 100 peo-
ple a year for various infractions. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Okay. What do they usually do? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. They are often conduct issues. They might be 

caught stealing or they might be the normal range of things you 
might have happen. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Okay. Mr. Healy, thanks for coming by. We have 
got to ask you some questions. How pervasive is retaliation at the 
Park Service? 

Mr. HEALY. I’m sorry. Can you repeat that? 
Mr. GROTHMAN. How pervasive do you think retaliation is at the 

Park Service? 
Mr. HEALY. You know, I—my experience is limited to Grand 

Canyon, and it’s—with a couple of the individuals that are still at 
the park I think there’s a pretty extensive pattern of that. And that 
was all described in—by the OIG during their investigation. 
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Mr. GROTHMAN. Okay. Are you afraid of retaliation for showing 
up and talking to us today? 

Mr. HEALY. Yes, I am somewhat. Yes. Yes. 
Mr. GROTHMAN. Okay. I guess this question is kind of obvious 

but do you feel the Park Service has adequately held managers ac-
countable for their part in allowing harassment to occur at Grand 
Canyon? 

Mr. HEALY. I don’t at this time. I’m optimistic for the future, but, 
you know, it’s been quite a while since the OIG investigation came 
out, and the Park Service response to that, and, you know, we’re 
in September and we still haven’t seen some of the individuals that 
were implicated by the OIG leave. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Slow-moving. Maybe I will switch back to Mr. 
Reynolds. Are any of these managers under any jeopardy of losing 
their job for their slow-moving here? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I—again, as I offered earlier, I’d be happy to talk 
to you in person or the chairman —— 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Again, are they in jeopardy, I mean, just poking 
around here —— 

Mr. REYNOLDS. For many of these actions, as they are found 
true, yes, they are in jeopardy. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Okay. Mr. Healy, according to your testimony, a 
former supervisor at the Grand Canyon district breached confiden-
tiality victims and was given a temporary promotion to chief rang-
er, is that true? What effect does that have on the morale of the 
employees when they see the sort of thing going on? 

Mr. HEALY. I think it has a severe impact. I think it really does. 
I think that was probably a setback for employee morale in moving 
forward after this thing. You know, this is a really, really big deal 
for employees. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. What was his position before and what was he 
promoted to? 

Mr. HEALY. He was supervisory park ranger, I believe, and his 
temporary promotion was chief ranger at a park, so the highest 
ranger position at another park from what I understand. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Okay. Would you feel comfortable saying what 
park? I won’t make you do that. You probably —— 

Mr. HEALY. It’s Curecanti —— 
Mr. GROTHMAN. Curecanti —— 
Mr. HEALY.—Black Canyon of the Gunnison area. It’s in Colo-

rado. 
Mr. GROTHMAN. Okay. Okay. Okay. Interesting. I will go back to 

Ms. Martin. I will ask you the same question. How common do you 
think retaliation is at NPS? 

Ms. MARTIN. Thank you, Congressman, for that. I’m fearful more 
of the repercussions. The retaliation I have not been a victim of. 
And I think everybody knows that by coming forward, we are try-
ing to very truly have a stronger conversation about what sexual 
harassment is and a hostile work environment is, so I actually feel 
somewhat confident that retaliation will not happen. But there are 
people that do fear that and will not come forward with honest 
statements. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Because retaliation, you mean they feel they are 
less likely to be promoted themselves in the future? 
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Ms. MARTIN. Yes, I think, you know, people just don’t want to 
really rock the boat. They don’t really want to come forward for 
what they really see as going on. So there’s a handful of us that 
believe that this is an extremely important topic to bring forward, 
and so I’m cautiously optimistic, I guess, that we will not be retali-
ated against. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Okay. Mr. Reynolds, in your past statements you 
said you were doing what you can to increase the number of 
women in management positions at the Park Service. Could you 
elaborate? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. We are beginning to venture into a much more 
aggressive recruitment. We’ve opened a recruitment office that 
will—we really have not had—recruitment has been done at the su-
pervisory management level, so we’re trying to begin to centralize 
that to focus on both—diversity in all of its forms. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Okay. I am well over my time so thanks for 
being patient with me. 

Mrs. LUMMIS. I thank the gentleman. 
Mr. Mica is recognized for five minutes. 
Mr. MICA. Well, thank you, Madam Chairman and ranking mem-

ber. I haven’t been able to participate; I got waylaid on a host of 
other things. But I did stay up last night and read some of the tes-
timony and a staff report. It was absolutely appalling to see what 
took place in some of these instances, and it also to me is disgrace-
ful that the Federal Government could be a partner into the abuse 
of women and employees and others and let them be subject to this 
type of activity. I just was stunned at what is going on. 

When we came into the majority in 1995, I was the first Repub-
lican chairman of civil service in 40 years, and I got to look at the 
civil service system. And you want a civil service system—and it 
was created to protect employees from political interference, but it 
wasn’t created to protect them when they abuse their fellow em-
ployees, violate laws, protocols, rules, and that is what I read page 
after page. It is just stunning. 

And then I saw the movement of people within the agency from 
department to department. One case, and I am sure it has been re-
layed here, where you get promoted after you commit sexual acts 
that no one would tolerate in any other form of employment. 

Okay. I have sat here, I have sat through IRS, I have sat 
through—I never forget the head of Secret Service. She came to me 
after she was brought in, Julia—she went to the University of Cen-
tral Florida, was a police officer, eminently qualified, first female 
Secret Service director. And after she was there for a while, she 
came in and she says this is almost impossible to control. I need 
assistance to determine—well, to be able to hire and fire, hire and 
fire poor performers, and that is—whether it is Secret Service, 
whether it is IRS, whether it is GSA, FBI, other agencies, we have 
to—actually some of them are exempt. There is exempt and un-ex-
empt. 

Mr. Reynolds, are your hands tied? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Congressman, thank you for bringing this up. It 

is a complex system that you know better than anybody. 
Mr. MICA. It is very complex, and it is very difficult for you to 

navigate —— 
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Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. MICA.—and it can take a long time to get rid of these people. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. I don’t want to cop out by saying it’s the process, 

right —— 
Mr. MICA. I would —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS.—we have to be accountable —— 
Mr. MICA. I am not copping out either, but I am telling you, it 

is the process. We have set up a system where nobody gets fired. 
When you do egregious things, you don’t get fired. It is easier to 
transfer them around. And we have seen examples. An example, I 
read it last night, and it didn’t let me sleep well last night. 

Mr. REYNOLDS. There is a GAO report that says it takes us six 
months to a year to terminate people at times. 

Mr. MICA. And that would be a speedy termination, and the al-
ternative is actually that they are moving people into other posi-
tions. And then what kind of message does it send when they actu-
ally get elevated? One of the most troublesome cases was getting 
elevated to one of the highest positions, and everybody knew what 
was going on. It is disgraceful. 

Well, I think that the way to cure this is, again, you want to pro-
tect—we want to protect people—we have thousands and thou-
sands of wonderful employees of the Federal Government. You 
have got them in the Park Service —— 

Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. MICA.—and I have seen them. They stay there late, they 

work extra time, they neglect sometimes their family, but they 
serve the public. They are public servants. We have got a few rot-
ten apples in the barrel, and they are still in the barrel, and to me 
it is disgraceful that we haven’t fixed the system that allows you 
to do your duty to clear the deck of people who need to be fired, 
removed, and held accountable. Would you agree with that? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I agree. 
Mr. MICA. Okay. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. We need to move as fast as we can —— 
Mr. MICA. Well, again, Madam Chairman, thank you for holding 

this hearing. This is an important hearing. This is to the core of 
the problem we have across the spectrum of the Federal Govern-
ment. 

And I thank you and yield back the balance of my time. 
Mrs. LUMMIS. I thank the gentleman from Florida. 
I have seven statements that I would like to include in the 

record. Without objection, so ordered. 
Mrs. LUMMIS. Mr. Healy, have you ever seen someone, let’s say 

a problem person, a sexual predator within the National Park Serv-
ice, either transferred laterally or promoted? 

Mr. HEALY. I don’t believe so. 
Mrs. LUMMIS. Ms. Martin, have you ever seen someone who was 

known to be a problem employee for the reasons we are meeting 
today either transferred laterally to a different NPS property or 
promoted? 

Ms. MARTIN. If you refer to my testimony regarding my first sex-
ual harassment incident at Grand Canyon, that is an example of 
how an individual was laterally moved and promoted. 
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Mrs. LUMMIS. Well, what we have heard today are terms like 
toxic work culture, a closed culture. We have heard ‘‘go along to get 
along’’ culture, and we know that within the National Park Service 
there are plum assignments. People will stay regardless of how 
long it takes or what they have to put up with to get to some of 
those crown jewel properties because they love their jobs so much. 

In some respects that is rewarding loyalty. In other respects, it 
can create a toxic work culture. And it appears that the National 
Park Service, especially since we have had reports of this for 16 
years and that these matters are not being adequately addressed, 
that perhaps promotion from within has actually hurt the National 
Park Service from addressing cultural systemic problems in this 
area. 

So I will be asking the chairman and ranking member of this 
committee to prepare memos to the transition teams for both the 
Democratic and Republican Presidential candidates to inform them 
of what is in the record here about what is going on at the National 
Park Service in terms of a toxic work culture and how maybe it is 
time to get, as Mr. Mica said, some of the rotten apples that are 
still in the barrel out of the barrel. 

And maybe that is going to require people who have made this 
their career and have been looking forward to being considered for 
some of the very highest positions within the National Park Service 
to not attain those goals because this has been tolerated. It has not 
been swept under the rug and now some of the people in leadership 
positions are just finding out about it. It has been tolerated. And 
it appears that people have tolerated this in order to advance their 
careers into the highest positions in the National Park Service. It 
is time to ferret out that kind of toxic culture. And either new 
President is going to be in a position to do that. 

So I will ask the chairman of this committee and the ranking 
member to prepare memos to the transition teams of the Demo-
cratic and Republican nominees for President and present them to 
them so when they are going through transition and preparing peo-
ple to go before Senate committees for confirmation that they know 
exactly what is going on in the National Park Service and they are 
prepared to address these problems. 

I thank you for your testimony today. It builds on testimony that 
we have in writing. It builds on reports that we have had for 16 
years that have gone inadequately addressed. It informs the next 
President that they better start lawyering up these agencies with 
people who are experts in personnel rules and disciplinary rules be-
cause they are going to take a whole bunch of people through proc-
esses that have not been used enough within the National Park 
Service. 

I now recognize the ranking member, Mr. Cummings. 
Mr. CUMMINGS. I want to thank the chairlady for your words, 

and I agree that it would be a good idea to get those letters out 
to the two transition teams. And I think hopefully it will have some 
impact. 

To you, Ms. Martin, to you, Mr. Healy, I thank you for coming 
forward. This is not easy. It can’t be. When I think about you, Ms. 
Martin, having left and then come back, and I was just reading the 
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file of the person who was the peeping tom, you should not have 
had to go through that. 

You know, I often think about how people come to work every 
day. Sometimes they have things that they have to struggle with 
at home. All of us do. But no matter what, they get up, they come 
to work, and when you have got a job like the ones you all have, 
dealing with the public, you have got to put on a good face and you 
have got to be the best that you can be. 

But the idea that you come to work and you have got people who 
place you in a position of discomfort, knowing that they could have 
not only an impact on your career but on your way of life and then 
to be able to function at your maximum with all of that over your 
head, that is quite a bit. And then to seemingly have an adminis-
tration at the Park Service that through neglect or just a sheer 
sense of lack of urgency, does not back you up, that is a problem. 

The other thing that I guess that goes through my head is what 
I said a little bit earlier. You have been bold enough to come here 
to give your testimony and the idea that you might not have the 
impact that you wanted to have and to go back and get hurt be-
cause you have stepped forward is the worst thing that could hap-
pen. 

So I want to vow to you and I am sure everybody on this com-
mittee feels the same way—and let me send the message to all of 
those who are thinking about, thinking about, thinking about re-
taliating or bringing harm that we will come after you with every-
thing we have got. There is no way that we will correct this culture 
if you have to be in fear and if they have the position that they 
can do whatever they want and get away with it. 

And to those who feel that way, that feel that they want to re-
taliate, I would invite them to leave the Park Service. Go do some-
thing else because we want our employees to be able to be content. 
We want them to have a normal employee/employer existence, nor-
mal. This is not normal. It is not. It has got to be stressful every 
day watching your back. Who is going to hurt you? Who is going 
to block your path? What is going to happen when you come up for 
promotion? Who is going to be whispering things, oh, she is not 
this or he is not that? And when you don’t even know who did it. 
So all of that, that has got to be stressful. 

And then I go back to what you said, Ms. Martin, with regard 
to doing the whole balancing thing. Do I tell or do I be quiet? Do 
I say something? Because if I say something, my career may be ru-
ined. And then what am I going to do? How am I going to feed my 
family? Those are real, real decisions. 

And so, you know, I know there is a survey coming out, Mr. Rey-
nolds, but the thing that struck me is that 16 years ago a similar 
survey came out, is that right? And when folks were asked about 
sexual harassment, they were asked this question, ‘‘have you per-
sonally experienced sexual harassment’’ 52 percent, hello, 52 per-
cent of the respondent females in law enforcement positions in the 
Park Service said yes, and an astounding 76 percent of the re-
spondent females in the United States Park Service answered yes. 

What is that about? And did you see that? Did you see those 
things when you were there? You know, we talked about these inci-
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dents. When you held the position that you held, head of H.R., 
whatever you called it, did you see some of this? 

Mr. REYNOLDS. I did see instances come through in terms of 
cases, not—we haven’t had the data to understand that the way 
that survey describes, which is why we want to do a second—you 
know, this new survey and to do it right this time. 

Mr. CUMMINGS. But this was 16 years ago? 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mr. CUMMINGS. All right. We have got problems —— 
Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes, sir. 
Mr. CUMMINGS.—and we have got to correct them. 
Mr. REYNOLDS. And I would like to say that I will personally en-

sure—and you may hold me absolutely accountable—that these 
people will be protected with their careers and their lives. 

Mr. CUMMINGS. And see, they know the names. They know the 
names. They know the names. But you know what? You can know 
the information and know the names, but when you have got this 
culture, even giving up—just the mere giving up the names would 
cause them stress, am I right, Ms. Martin? 

Ms. MARTIN. Without a doubt. I know that I have—I’ll be prob-
ably more—I’ll be facing serious repercussions, but I just have to 
go on record to tell you that I have a tremendous amount of sup-
port of women behind me that could not do this, but the other im-
portant thing is that there’s men that want to see our culture 
change, too. 

Mr. CUMMINGS. That leads me to my last statement, and I am 
so glad you said that. I am so glad you said that. And I want to 
say this to all the people that you just talked about, the ones that 
back you up, the ones that care, the ones that support you —— 

Ms. MARTIN. Absolutely. 
Mr. CUMMINGS.—they have got to understand that they are the 

solution. They really are. They have to be that critical mass. They 
have got to stand up, they have got to back you up, and then hope-
fully more and more will come forward. And if changes need to be 
made at the top, they need to be made, but they have to help us 
change it because they are there. You are on the ground. They are 
the witnesses, okay? 

I have often said through our pain must come our passion to do 
our purpose. Your pain has allowed you to come here with a pas-
sion, and that passion has allowed you to do your purpose. And 
hopefully, we will be able—that purpose will be about bringing a 
new day to the Park Service by shining a bright light on its prob-
lems. 

With that, Madam Chair, I yield back. 
Mrs. LUMMIS. I thank the ranking member. 
The tone is set at the top, so the tone has to change going for-

ward. 
I want to thank our witnesses. Mr. Healy, thank you for coming 

here and for your bold statements. Ms. Martin, thank you for your 
testimony today and for representing other people within the Na-
tional Park Service who are similarly situated, but your ability to 
speak on their behalf is deeply appreciated by this committee. Mr. 
Reynolds, thank you for your testimony today. You have got your 
hands full. I hope you are up to the task. 
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Mr. REYNOLDS. Yes. 
Mrs. LUMMIS. You know, God bless you in your work there. 
With that, the Committee on Oversight and Government Reform 

is adjourned. 
[Whereupon, at 3:18 p.m., the committee was adjourned.] 
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